STATE OF MINNESOTA
COMMISSIONER OF COMMERCE

CONSENT ORDER
In the Matter of:

QBE Holdings, Inc., (NAIC Group No. 796), its affiliates and subsidiaries including: QBE
Insurance Corporation (NAIC No. 39217) and QBE Specialty Insurance Company (NAIC
No. 11515)

Respondents

On November 26, 2012, the Minnesota Department of Commerce (“the Department”),
commenced an examination, pursuant to Minnesota Statutes Section 60A.031 (2014), of QBE
Insurance Corporation (“QBE Insurance™) and its underwriting and non-underwriting
subsidiaries including, but not limited to, QBE Specialty Insurance Company (“QBE Specialty
Insurance”) (Respondents are collectively and generally hereafter referred to as “QBE”), to
examine QBE’s force-placed insurance policies insuring properties located in Minnesota and its
business practices related to its force-placed insurance business (the “Examination’). Although
not a party to this Consent Order, the Department also examined the business of former QBE
affiliate, QBE First Insurance Agency, Inc. n/k/a NGLS Insurance Services, Inc. (“QBE First”).

BACKGROUND
A. Relevant Entities

1. QBE Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation that is an insurance holding company, is the
parent company of QBE Insurance and QBE Specialty Insurance. QBE provides force-placed
homeowners’ insurance to mortgage servicers throughout the United States, including
Minnesota. QBE Insurance writes force-placed insurance policies for hazard and flood coverage
in Minnesota. QBE FIRST acts as the program manager for QBE’s force-placed insurance
program and also provides outsourced services to mortgage servicers, including tracking
insurance coverage, and administers the claims for QBE’s force-placed insurance program.

2. In December 2008, QBE Holdings acquired QBE FIRST, which was then known as ZC
Sterling Corporation (“ZC Sterling”). Prior to the acquisition, ZC Sterling managed force-placed
insurance programs for other insurers, primarily Zurich in North America underwriting
companies, including Empire Fire and Marine Insurance Company (“Empire Fire and Marine™).
QBE assumed Empire Fire and Marine’s market share after the acquisition. ZC Sterling changed
its name to Sterling National Corporation after being purchased by QBE Holdings, and then
changed its name to QBE FIRST in 2011.

3. In June 2011, QBE Holdings acquired from Bank of America Corporation (“BOA”) the
force-placed insurance business of Balboa Insurance Company (“BIC”), Meritplan Insurance
Company (“MIC”), and Newport Insurance Company (“NIC”) (BIC, MIC and NIC are
collectively the “Balboa Insurers”, as well as BOA’s former subsidiary Newport Management




Corporation (“Newport”), together the Balboa Insurers and Newport are collectively the “Balboa
Companies”. Although BOA retained the BIC, NIC and MIC legal entities, QBE Insurance
manages all of Balboa’s force-placed business and Balboa entered a 100% quota share
reinsurance agreement with the Balboa Insurers pursuant to which QBE receives the Balboa
Insurer’s premiums and assumes the risk of the Balboa Insurer’s force-placed insurance.
Balboa’s existing force-placed insurance policies are in run off and were transitioned to QBE
Insurance. QBE Holdings’ acquisition of Balboa’s business greatly expanded QBE’s market
share, and QBE became the second largest force-placed insurer in Minnesota.

4. Effective October 1, 2015, QBE Holdings, Inc., sold its force-placed insurance business
to National General Holdings, Corp. (“NatGen”), through the sale of QBE Financial Institution
Risk Services, Inc. (n/k/a NGLS Insurance Services, Inc.), Mortgage and Auto Solutions, Inc.,
Seattle Specialty Insurance Services, Inc., and Newport Management Corporation. Pursuant to
the sales agreement, NatGen is permitted to issue force placed insurance using QBE’s rates and
forms through March 31, 2017. QBE remains responsible for any placements or conduct related
to such placements until the first renewal after March 31, 2017 (the “Transition Period”).

B. Background on Force-Placed Insurance

1. A typical loan agreement requires a borrower to carry Homeowner’s Hazard insurance
sufficient to cover the lender’s interest in the property against fire and other perils (hereafter
“Homeowner’s Hazard”). Certain loan agreements also require borrowers to maintain flood
insurance on their properties sufficient to cover the lender’s risk from flood damage. If a
borrower’s “voluntary, Homeowner’s Hazard” policy lapses, the loan agreement allows the
lender to “force place” a new hazard insurance policy covering the property at the borrower’s
expense.

2. The Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac Uniform Instrument Form 3024, Section 5 of the Uniform
Covenants provides in part:

Property Insurance. Borrower shall keep the improvements now existing or hereafter
erected on the Property insured against loss by fire, hazards included within the term
“extended coverage,” and any other hazards including, but not limited to, earthquakes
and floods, for which Lender requires insurance.

. . . If Borrower fails to maintain any of the coverages described above,
Lender may obtain insurance coverage, at Lender’s option and Borrower’s
expense.

3. The National Flood Insurance Act, 42 USC 4001 requires that any building located within a
Special Flood Hazard Area be covered by flood insurance. Servicers are required to determine
whether properties located within a SFHA that secure loans are covered by flood insurance. On
behalf of Servicers, QBE, typically through its lender-placed agents, sends notices to

Minnesota borrowers that they are required to carry flood insurance. Minnesota requires insurers
to properly underwrite the pricing and placement of insurance.




4. Force-placed insurance is insurance obtained by a bank, lender, or other mortgage servicer
(collectively hereafter referred to as “Servicer”) when a borrower does not maintain the
insurance required by the terms of the home mortgage agreement or other debt instrument
secured by real property or related to manufactured or mobile homes. Typically, insurance is
force-placed when the borrower’s Homeowner’s Hazard policy lapses or is cancelled, or the
Servicer determines that the borrower does not have a sufficient amount of insurance coverage.
Force-placed insurance often provides less protection for the borrower than homeowners
insurance “voluntarily” purchased by the borrower while protecting the lenders’ or investors’
interest in the property. For example, borrowers are not protected for contents of their homes or
for third-party liability. The higher cost of force-placed insurance is due in part to relationships
between Servicers and their affiliates and payments by force-placed insurers, including QBE, to
Servicers and their affiliates. While Servicers choose the force-placed product for their mortgage
loan portfolio, the premiums are later separately charged by Servicers to borrowers, and in the
event of foreclosure, unpaid costs are passed on to investors, including government sponsored
enterprises such as Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Mortgage
Corporation, and the Government National Mortgage Association.

5. Force-placed insurance involves a number of different parties; Borrowers, Lenders,
Servicers, Insurance Agencies and the Insurers.

6. The Borrowers’ voluntary Homeowner’s Hazard policies have either been cancelled, have
lapsed, have not been renewed or provide insufficient coverage including circumstances where a
borrower is facing financial hardship. In some instances, insurance is force-placed in error or due
to a dispute about required coverage.

7. The Lenders, the banks and loan originators, may employ Servicers as their agents.

8. The Servicers, who are engaged by the Lender, may collect and distribute payments from
borrowers and handle defaults, modifications, settlements, and foreclosure proceedings.
Servicers may be subsidiaries of, or otherwise affiliated with, Lenders and may also own
portfolios of mortgage loans. Servicers are obligated, by their contracts with the Lenders or
investors, to ensure that there is insurance coverage on the collateral securing loans they are
servicing. The Servicer is compensated by the Lender for this function as part of their servicing
agreement.

9. Insurance Agencies, some which may be affiliated with the Servicer, receive commissions
from force-placed insurers.

10. The Insurer, QBE Insurance, is the entity with which the Servicers contract to act as a
force-placed insurance vendor. QBE’s duties include, but are not limited to, monitoring the
loans in the Servicers’ portfolio to determine whether the voluntary hazard insurance is in place,
handling customer service duties related to the maintenance of voluntary insurance to avoid
force-placed insurance, and issuing force-placed insurance policies on properties when a
borrower’s insurance has lapsed, been cancelled or not renewed or does not otherwise meet
lender requirements.




11. QBE (through its agency, QBE First) performed insurance tracking and QBE then issued
the force-placed policies pursuant to its contracts with Servicers. The Servicer provides access
to the necessary information for QBE to monitor homeowners’ insurance policies to ensure that
there is adequate coverage in the case of damage or destruction. Servicers contract with QBE to
correspond with borrowers to provide or obtain necessary information and update the Servicer’s
records.

C. Filings, Rates, and Loss Ratios

1. Respondent QBE did not file with the Department a rate or form filing for its Program for
force-placed hazard insurance until requested to do so by Order of the Department issued to QBE
in November, 2012. This rate filing had a rate of $1.128 per $100 of coverage and was filed in
January, 2013. This filing has not been approved by the Department.

2. QBE’s filing with the Department for its force-placed coverage was made under the filing
category of “CMP non-liability portion only” and “other CMP”. The majority of properties
written with force-placed coverage were owner-occupied, single-unit residential properties.

3. QBE has, as a part of its rate filing, a provision for scheduled rating. That schedule permitted
adjustment of the filed rates by up to a 25% increase or a 25% decrease.

4. QBE’s actual losses for its force-placed hazard insurance have been below the expected loss
ratios in its rate filings.

5. From 2012 through 2014, QBE’s loss ratios for its force-placed insurance program as
identified on their Credit Insurance Expense Exhibit (“CIEE”) were on average 29.05%.

6. For both premium trend and loss trend, QBE cited economic expectations and higher than
their Insurance Expense Exhibit (“IEE”) numbers due to program differences with regard to
expenses.

D. Commissions Paid to Servicer-affiliated Agencies

QBE paid commissions to insurance producers that are affiliates of Servicers. Typically, the
commissions are 10% to 15% but have gone as high as 27.5% of the premium earned on the
Servicer’s loan portfolio.

E. Other Payments or Discounts to Servicers and their Affiliates

1. Inthe past, QBE entered into agreements with Servicers and their affiliates that provide for
the payment of compensation. The Servicer affiliate, or the insurer as its agent, discloses to the
borrower that an affiliate may receive compensation in connection with the force-placed policy.
However, little to no insurance placement related work is performed by the Servicer or
Servicer’s affiliate insurance producer.




2. Compensation to Servicers and Servicer affiliates includes expenses that are often not
specifically delineated. Typically they are paid to Servicers that do not have affiliated insurance
agencies. For example, in one instance, QBE contracted to pay a Servicer $1,390,000 for
“reimbursement of expenses” associated with the implementation of the policy and other
services, and in addition received 8% of the earned premium for all policies per month.

F. Licensing and Appointment of Agents

1. Pursuant to Minnesota law, QBE is required to sell, solicit, or negotiate its filed force-placed
hazard business only through licensed and appointed insurance producers. The following
business entities were not licensed in the state of Minnesota during the examination period doing
business with QBE on force-placed insurance:

Insurance Producer Location Affiliation Location
FirstInsure, Inc. Oklahoma City, OK | N/A N/A
Interactive Insurance Denver CO N/A N/A
Solutions, LLC

Matrix Insurance Services | Phoenix, AZ N/A N/A
Corporation

SRB Insurance Services North Highlands, N/A N/A

LLC CA

G. Quota Share Reinsurance Arrangements with Servicers’ Captive Reinsurers

QBE had offered to contract with Servicers to provide captive arrangements and/or to reinsure
portions of the coverage it has force-placed on borrowers and it also offered to set up a captive
arrangement for the Servicers to utilize for these types of arrangements.. These arrangements
would have been quota share contracts under which the Servicer’s captive insurer affiliate
receives a percentage of the premium and assumes the same percentage of the loss. Depending
upon losses, such reinsurance arrangements would have been profitable for Servicers.

ALLEGATIONS
The Department alleges the following;

A. QBE paid rebates to Servicers by paying commissions to their affiliated insurance producers,
providing Servicers with certain services below QBE’s cost, by offering to contract with
Servicer-affiliated captive insurers for reinsurance, and by offering to contract with Servicer-
affiliated captive insurers pursuant to contracts whereby QBE would permit the insurers to
participate in QBE’s catastrophe or other reinsurance programs, and that these arrangements are
in violation of Minnesota Statute § 72A.08, subd. 1.




B. The arrangements described above through the use of contracts identifying the payments as
“expenses” or “eligible expenses” or purporting to be for reinsurance are in violation of
Minnesota Statutes §§ 72A.19, subd. 1 and 72A.20, subd. 18(b).

C. QBE charged excessive premium rates in a non-competitive market that were otherwise
unsupported by actuarially sound methods and such premiums were high in relation to claims
and eligible expenses actually incurred and in violation of Minnesota Statutes §70A.04, subd. 1.

D. QBE failed to file its rates and forms with the Department in violation of Minnesota Statutes §
70A.06.

E. QBE failed to amend rate filings for its force-placed hazard insurance with the Department in
violation of Minnesota Statutes §§ 70A.04, subd. 1 and 70A.20.

F. QBE filed with the Department inaccurate information regarding the support of premium
rates that included expenses that identified rebates as “commissions” or other in violation of
Minnesota Statutes §45.027, subds. 7(a)(3) and (4), §72A.19, subd. 1, and §72A.20, subds.(5)
and 18(b).

G. QBE engaged in underwriting practices, specifically the application of Scheduled Rating,
that are in violation of Minnesota Statutes §72A.20, subd. 21.

H. With respect to the foregoing allegations, there have been no hearings, findings of fact, or
conclusions of law. QBE does not admit any of the allegations. Moreover, this Consent Order
constitutes a negotiated settlement of these disputed allegations.

ORDERS

WHEREAS, the terms of this Consent Order shall apply to QBE and any subsidiary or affiliate
of QBE through which they are acting in Minnesota or may hereafter act in Minnesota with
respect to the subject matter of this Consent Order, including NatGen’s (and its subsidiaries and
affiliates) use of QBE’s rates and forms during the Transition Period of the business.

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that QBE, with respect to its force-placed
products, including NatGen’s use of QBE’s rates and forms during the transition period of the
business, shall cease and desist from engaging, directly or indirectly, in the following;

A. Using force-placed insurance rates that are excessive or unfairly discriminatory.

B. Engaging in any practice, directly or indirectly, with Servicers or their affiliates that is a
rebate of premiums or an offer of a rebate of premiums of any kind in connection with
the sale or placement of force-placed insurance.

C. Paying commissions or other valuable consideration, directly or indirectly, to a Servicer
or Servicer affiliate on force-placed insurance policies.

D. Providing payments to Servicers, directly or indirectly, for any administrative or other
service associated with force-placed policies or other force-placed related services.




E. Reinsuring or offering to reinsure force-placed insurance policies with a Servicer or
Servicer affiliate. This prohibition includes, but is not limited to all captive insurer
arrangements or any other direct or indirect arrangements that provide compensation or
other valuable consideration to a Servicer or Servicer affiliate.

F. Accepting compensation, concessions, or any other valuable consideration from Servicers
or their affiliates for services in connection with force-placed insurance provided by QBE
to Servicers or their affiliates at less than cost.

G. Making any payments or providing any other valuable consideration including, but not
limited to, the payment of expenses, administrative fees or expenses, marketing fees, or
endorsement amounts to Servicers at more than cost or for fabricated reasons.

H. Including in QBE’s FPI rates any expenses related to the following:

a. Communicating with borrowers regarding their voluntary homeowners insurance;
or
b. Commissions paid to Servicer affiliated insurance agencies.
L

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, insofar as force-placed hazard insurance is written,
administered, or otherwise managed by QBE on Minnesota properties, including NatGen’s (and
its subsidiaries and affiliates) use of QBE’s rates and forms during the Transition Period of the
business, that QBE shall:

Loss Ratios, Rate Filings, Reporting, and Self-Audits

A. Submit all force-placed rate and/or form filings used to cover Minnesota properties —
including those contained in master, group, blanket or other type of coverage and
regardless of whether the policy has been filed in another state —through SERFF (or
successor filing system).

B. Withdraw all other force-placed hazard insurance rates for Minnesota properties currently
used or effective (regardless of state of filing) whether master policy, group, blanket or
other type of coverage.

C. SEREFF filing QBEC-130947901 shall become effective immediately upon the execution
of this Consent Order by or on behalf of the Commissioner, and the Company shall
implement the rates contained therein no later than 90 days from the date this Order is
executed by or on behalf of the Commissioner.

D. Within 180 days of the date that this Consent Order is executed by or on behalf of the
Commissioner, the Company shall start and complete a self-audit of the pricing and
placement of its flood insurance, in compliance with the requirements set forth in the
corrective action plan.

E. Not use or include schedule rating plans or other factors that could increase rates without
providing documentation acceptable to the Department regarding the basis for any
adjustment pursuant to the schedule rating plan.




F. Commencing in 2018 and continuing annually, within 60 days after filing its NAIC
Annual Statements, re-file with the Department its force-placed hazard premium rates for
any force-placed hazard insurance policy form with an actual loss ratio of less than 40%
in the immediately preceding calendar year.

G. On April 1, 2019, and every three years thereafter, re-file its force-placed hazard
premium rates with the Department. Rates shall be certified by a credentialed CAS
actuary and supported by data and actuarial analysis that is acceptable both professionally
and to the Department, taking into account the loss experience over the preceding period
and an appropriate rating factor for catastrophe exposure and other factors.

H. For any remedial efforts that arise through QBE’s self-audits, QBE shall comply with all
provisions contained within a corrective action plan as prescribed by the Department.

L No later than May 1 of each year, provide to the Commissioner, for each of their force-
placed insurance policy forms for the preceding calendar year, a report that includes for
properties in Minnesota:

Actual Loss Ratio;

earned premium;

itemized expenses;

paid losses;

loss reserves;

case reserves; and

incurred but not reported losses.

RHe e op
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IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, insofar as force-placed insurance is written,
administered, or otherwise managed by QBE on Minnesota properties, including NatGen’s
(and its subsidiaries and affiliates) use of QBE’s paper during the transition period of the
business, that QBE shall:

Notices to Borrowers

A. To the extent that QBE communicates in writing or by telephone with a borrower on
behalf of a Servicer concerning insurance, use all commercially reasonable efforts to
obtain the Servicers’ consent to provide:

1. A clear and conspicuous’ disclosure in all written notices provided to a borrower
that QBE or an affiliate is mailing such notices and a clear and conspicuous
disclosure in all oral notices that QBE or an affiliate is staffing the mortgage
servicer’s telephones; and

2. A clear and conspicuous disclosure, to be approved by the Department, on the
front of envelopes that the mailing contains important homeowners’ insurance
information.

! For purposes of this Consent Order, the term “clear and conspicuous” means for written notices and oral
statements, that they be in accordance with 2790.0400 subp. 3




Any contract entered by QBE with a Servicer or affiliate to provide force-placed
insurance subsequent to the Effective Date of this Consent Order shall include
requirements that QBE provide the disclosures set forth in items 1 and 2 above as
applicable.

Document Retention

Retain for a period of six (6) years from the Effective Date of this Consent Order all
documents reflecting communications of:

1. All employees involved in negotiating agreements between QBE and Servicer and
their affiliates; and

2. All employees involved in the solicitation, marketing, or pricing of force-placed
insurance.

“Documents” for this section shall include, but not be limited to any form of
communication developed or produced by, used by, or provided to QBE (whether words,
numbers, symbols, or graphics) including without limitation printed, recorded, electronic,
mechanical, magnetic, or computerized information, tape, voice mail, web site, email,
archived information, and backup of information in QBE’s possession, custody, or
control (including all writings and records that have been transferred from QBE to its
accountants, attorneys, or consultants). “Document” specifically includes, but is not
limited to, press releases, announcements, notices, statements of procedures and policy;
records of email; telephone logs; records or evidence of incoming and outgoing telephone
calls; external or internal correspondence; memoranda; letters; messages; reports; plans;
forecasts; summaries; briefing materials; studies; notes; computer screen shots or
printouts; working papers; graphs; agendas; and transcripts, records, or summaries of any
meeting, conversation, conference or communication.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Respondents shall pay relief as follows:

The Department has found that a number of Minnesota borrowers were improperly force-
placed. As a consequence the categories of relief pursuant to this Consent Order shall
include Improper Force Placement Relief.

Within 90 days of the effective date of this Order, QBE shall establish and deliver to the
Department and the Claim Administrator a database listing each residential property,
including manufactured or mobile homes, (regardless of the number of units contained
within a building) in Minnesota for which Minnesota Borrowers tracked by QBE were
sent notification of potential force placement of coverage during time periods outlined
below (the “Database™). “Minnesota Borrower” is a person or entity, regardless of state
of residence, who is or was a named debtor on a loan secured by residential property,
including manufactured or mobile homes, in Minnesota and such loan was subject to an
agreement whereby QBE was providing tracking or placement of insurance on behalf of a
Servicer. The Database shall include all instances where a Minnesota borrower was




notified that they may have insurance placed (if tracked by QBE), as well as those
borrowers who did have insurance placed on their property. The Database shall have all
the functionality and include such data fields and other information necessary to facilitate
the requirements of this Consent Order in a timely manner (see Retention of Claim
Administrator, Relief Administration, Duties and Related Costs).

Improper Forced Placement Claim Relief

Minnesota Borrowers who experienced losses as the result of force-placed hazard
insurance policies shall be entitled to submit a claim for relief as established herein. Each
Eligible Claimant who submits a timely and complete claim form with the required
supporting documentation to the Claim Administrator shall be entitled to relief in an
amount calculated as set forth below, except any such amount where QBE has already
provided a refund, credit or otherwise made restitution. For purposes of this section C,
any activity required to be undertaken by QBE may be carried out by the Claim
Administrator.

1. For the purposes of this section, “Eligible Claimant” is defined as a Minnesota Borrower
within one of the following three (3) categories:

a. The first category shall be any Minnesota Borrower who demonstrates that:

(1) the placement of force-placed insurance issued by QBE with an effective date
on or after January 1, 2008 caused, directly or indirectly, the borrower to (a)
default on his or her mortgage payments, or (b) incur the foreclosure of that
mortgage, including loss of possession and title to the property, and

(2) he or she either (a) paid some or all of QBE’s force-placed premium to the
mortgagee or loan servicer, or (b) remains liable to pay some or all of the
force-placed insurance premium to the mortgagee or its assignee, as a part of a
deficiency judgment following the foreclosure. :

(3) For this category of claims:
(a) it shall be conclusively presumed that a force-placed insurance
placement did not cause a default or foreclosure, if the force-placed

placement occurred:

(1) six or more months before the claimant defaulted on his or her
loan payments, or

(2) after either (a) the date of the claimant’s first default on his or

her loan payments, or (b) the Effective Date of the Consent Order,
whichever comes first;
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(b) eligibility must be established by (a) a properly completed claim form
and (b) available bank records and other bona fide documentation
supporting the claim;

(c) Eligible Claimants who satisfy the requirements for eligibility will
receive a refund amount equal to the difference between the force-placed
premium amount and the premium that would have been assessed for the
period in question under the borrower’s last known voluntary policy, had
it remained in effect.

b. The second category shall be any Minnesota Borrower who demonstrates that the
premium that he or she paid to QBE for force-placed insurance with an effective date
on or after January 1, 2008 that exceeded the amount authorized by the mortgage
instrument, or exceeded the amount authorized by Minnesota Statutes §72A.31. For
this category of claims:

(1) eligibility must be established by (a) a properly completed claim form, (b) a
copy of the mortgage instrument, and (c) supporting documentation evidencing
facts sufficient to demonstrate premium payments in excess of the amount
authorized by the mortgage instrument;

(2) Eligible Claimants who satisfy the requirements for eligibility will receive a
refund amount equal to the difference between QBE’s force-placed premium that
he or she paid and the amount authorized under the mortgage instrument.

c. The third category shall be any Minnesota Borrower who demonstrates that he or she
has incurred actual out-of-pocket premium expenses as a result of one of the
placements of force-placed insurance issued by QBE on Minnesota properties after
January 1, 2008 if acceptable continuous voluntary coverage was in effect and,
despite the presentation of written confirmation thereof, such Borrower was charged
for, and not credited back or refunded, the force-placed premiums,

(1) For this category of claims, eligibility must be established by
(a) a properly completed claim form and

(b) supporting documentation evidencing facts sufficient to satisfy the criteria
above, and (c) either

(1) a certificate of coverage or policy declaration page evidencing the
voluntary insurance coverage that was in effect, or

(2) real property records showing the single-family residence status of the
property, as the case may be, provided, however, that,
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(A) within 15 days of receipt, the Claim Administrator shall forward a
copy of any such claim form by post-paid U.S. mail to the address
specified in the Consent Order for notices to QBE, as appropriate, and

(B) no payment shall be made to the claimant if, within 15 days after
receipt of such claim form, QBE provides to the Claim Administrator
documentary evidence that after receipt of confirmation of acceptable
continuous coverage, QBE cancelled the force-placed insurance and
refunded or credited back any force-placed insurance premiums
charged for the period when other acceptable coverage was in effect.

(2) Eligible Claimants who satisfy the requirements for eligibility under this
category will receive a payment, plus interest at a floating rate equal to the
then current five year U.S. Treasury Bill Rate on the date the claim is
approved, in the amount of the force-placed insurance premium actually
paid by the claimant and not subsequently refunded for periods when other
acceptable coverage was in effect

d. Eligible Claimants for the purpose of this section shall not include persons whose
force-placed insurance policies were cancelled and the full force-placed insurance
premium was refunded or credited back to them.

2. Within 120 days of receipt of the Database, the Claim Administrator shall cause to be
mailed to each Eligible Claimant (as defined above) an Improper Forced-placement
Notice and a Claim Form.

3. Completed Claim Forms from the Eligible Claimant must be postmarked within 90 days
of the date of the postmarked date of the Improper Forced-placement Notice mailing by
QBE (“Claims Deadline™) to be eligible for relief pursuant to this Consent Order, except
that any Claim Form rejected solely for untimeliness and received by the Claim
Administrator after the claims deadline above shall be submitted by the Claim
Administrator to the Department and if the Department determines that good cause exists
for accepting the untimely Claim Form in its sole discretion the Department shall direct
QBE to make appropriate relief to said borrowers.

4. Within 90 days of the Claims Deadline, the Claim Administrator shall:
a. Determine the validity of each Claim Form it has received; and
b. Submit to the Department and QBE a detailed summary of claims received, its
determination for each claim, and the amounts it has determined to be payable for each
such claim.

5. Within 120 days of the Claims Deadline, the Claim Administrator shall cause to be

delivered to each Eligible Claimant a written notice stating (a) whether the claim has
been accepted or denied; (b) if accepted, the amount of the proposed payment; and (c) if
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denied, the reasons for the dénial; and (d) for each accepted claim, a check in the required
amount, payable to the Eligible Claimant.

Retention of Claim Administrator, Relief Administration, Duties and Related Costs

As soon as practicable, but no later than 60 days from the effective date of the Consent
Order, QBE, with the Department’s authorization and agreement, shall select and retain
an independent third-party administrator (the “Claim Administrator”’) to administer relief
payments ordered herein.

QBE shall assist the Claim Administrator, when so requested, in locating all Minnesota
Borrowers the Claim Administrator is to contact, send notices to, or make a payment to
hereunder. In doing so, QBE shall utilize all reasonably available means to secure
current mailing addresses, phone numbers and other relevant contact information for each
Minnesota Borrower.

QBE shall provide to the Claim Administrator access to all relevant information
including, but not limited to, borrower records and all data required to be placed within
the Database within 10 days of receiving a request for information from the Claim
Administrator.

The Claim Administrator shall cause the payments required to be made herein by
directing QBE to make the payment. The direction shall include such information as
necessary to perfect each payment. QBE shall make payments within 10 days following
receipt of payment directions from the Claim Administrator.

All relief payments as ordered herein shall be accomplished by prepaid first class mail

through the U.S. Postal Service. The envelopes containing the payment shall contain a
return address titled “Minnesota Department of Commerce / QBE Insurance Company
Settlement Relief Program”, and include the Claim Administrator’s mailing address or
other such address created for the purpose of administering relief.

All relief payments required by this Consent Order shall be accompanied by a letter
drafted by the Claim Administrator and approved by the Department that explains the
purpose of the relief payment and how it was calculated. The letter shall include such
information as the Claim Administrator and the Department deem appropriate.

For any undeliverable or returned mail, the Claim Administrator shall attempt to obtain a
current mailing address for that Minnesota borrower. The Claim Administrator may
undertake these efforts and may request QBE’s assistance in accordance with Paragraph
G above. Upon locating a more current address, the Claim Administrator shall resend the
mail to that address. The Claim Administrator shall make additional attempts to identify
a more current address as the Claim Administrator deems appropriate, but in no event
shall the attempts be fewer than two or greater than five.
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For any relief payments that remain undelivered after the last attempt required in
paragraph L above or are not cashed after 120 days, the Claim Administrator shall require
QBE to follow the appropriate process to escheat the relief payment to the appropriate
state.

Within 30 days of making the applicable relief payments in each section under this
Consent Order, the Claim Administrator shall provide a report to the Department
showing (a) the total amount of relief provided to borrowers through the relief process,
(b) the number of borrowers provided with relief through the relief process, and (c) the
number of relief claim forms that were rejected.

The Claim Administrator shall submit to the Department monthly reports providing such
detail as requested by the Department. These, and other reports, and the work papers of
the Claim Administrator shall be considered Department examination work papers under
Minnesota Statutes § 60A.031, except for final summary totals of the amounts refunded,
total number of persons affected and such other information as determined by the
Department as necessary to inform the insurance buying public in Minnesota.

The Claim Administrator may, after consultation with and approval of the Department,
adjust the timing of mailings, reviews and delivery of relief payments as necessary and
reasonable. :

The Department shall have full access to the Database, the Claim Administrator’s work
papers and may request that the Claim Administrator and QBE meet with the Department
as necessary to accomplish the Department’s supervisory duties.

The compensation of the Claim Administrator as well as any and all costs incurred by the
Claim Administrator to accomplish the requirements of this Order shall be paid by QBE.

The Claim Administrator shall administer the Relief Payments in a cost-effective and
timely manner. Without limiting any of the Claim Administrator’s other obligations as
stated herein, the Claim Administrator shall be responsible for all mailings, the
determination and administration of relief payments, and providing all other related
support, reporting, and administration as further stated in this Consent Order. Where
required the Claim Administrator shall use the systems and services of QBE to minimize
the cost of effecting the purposes of this Order. The Department may direct the Claim
Administrator to assist with various additional administrative tasks in implementing this
Order as the Department shall deem appropriate in its sole discretion.

The Claim Administrator shall adhere to the confidentiality provisions of Minnesota
Statutes § 60A.031 except as otherwise provided in this Order. The Claim Administrator
shall execute a nondisclosure and confidentiality agreement and will take all reasonable
steps to ensure that any confidential information acquired by or provided to Claim
Administrator shall be treated as examination work papers of the Department and used
solely for the purpose of effecting this Consent Order. The Claim Administrator shall
administer the relief payments in accordance with the terms of this Consent Order and,
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